IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 71214 Electronically Filed Feb 06 2017 04:02 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction in CR16-0323 The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Honorable Janet J. Berry, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER
Washoe County Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 4925
JOHN REESE PETTY
Chief Deputy Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 10
350 South Center Street, 5th Floor
P.O. Box 11130
Reno, Nevada 89520-0027
(775) 337-4827

Attorneys for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court filed a criminal judgment of conviction on August 5, 2016, and a Corrected Judgment of Conviction on August 11, 2016. 1JA 87-88, 89-90. Appellant, Ryan Scott Andrews (Mr. Andrews), filed a notice of appeal on September 2, 2016. JA 81-92. This Court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP) and NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment in a criminal case).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

///

This appeal is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(1) because it is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on jury verdicts involving category B felonies.

Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court should retain and decide this appeal because it presents an issue of first impression. NRAP 17(a)(10).

¹ "JA" in this Opening Brief stands for the Joint Appendix. Pagination conforms to NRAP 30(c)(1). Volume numbers appear immediately before "JA."

III. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the district court erred in allowing Mr. Andrews to be charged with possession of 14 or more but less than 28 grams of a controlled substance based on an aggregation of two different types of controlled substances?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction. In an amended Information the State charged Mr. Andrews with two counts of trafficking in a controlled substance, violations of NRS 453.3385, category B felonies, and one count of unlawful sale of a controlled substance at or near a public park, a violation of NRS 453.321 and NRS 453.3345, a category B felony. 1JA 1-4 (Amended Information). In both of the trafficking counts the State alleged a trafficking quantity of a controlled substance based on a "mixture" of controlled substances methamphetamine and heroin. *Id.* Prior to trial Mr. Andrews moved to strike these counts on the basis that it was improper to combine separate controlled substances for the purpose of aggregating them to a trafficking amount. 1JA 5-8 (Motion to Strike Counts I and II). The State opposed the motion, 1JA 9-15 (Opposition to Motion to Strike Counts I and II), and after hearing argument (1JA 16-49 (Transcripts of Proceedings: Oral Arguments)), the district court denied the motion concluding,

[i]t is incumbent upon the Court to focus on the packaging of the controlled substances in this case, the lethality of the substances, the schedules, and the amounts of the substances to decide this motion. The Court finds the statute and the law contemplate that when a seller of illegal drugs sells heroin and methamphetamine, which are both schedule I products, both sold together, and located together, the total weight of said Schedule I narcotics appropriately forms the basis for the changes [sic] before this Court.

1JA 53 (Order).2

Based on an agreement of counsel, 1JA 62 (Transcript of Proceedings: Arraignment), following the district court's order the State filed a Second Amended Information charging only one trafficking count along with the count of unlawful sale of a controlled substance at or near a public park. 1JA 55-58 (Second Amended Information). But this trafficking count retained the "mixture" combination of methamphetamine and heroin. *Id.* at 56 (charging "14 grams or more but less than 28 grams of a Schedule I controlled substance or a mixture

² Aside from citing the trafficking statute, neither the motion, nor the opposition, nor the district court's order cited to any other controlling authority from within or without the State of Nevada.

which contains a Schedule I controlled substance, to wit: methamphetamine and heroin[.]").

The jury convicted Mr. Andrews of both counts. 1JA 68-69 (Verdicts). The district court sentenced Mr. Andrews on the trafficking count to a term of 36 to 96 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections and credited him for 193 days in predisposition custody. The district court sentenced Mr. Andrews on the unlawful sale count to a concurrent term of 12 to 30 months (with a consecutive like term for the park enhancement). The district court also imposed fines, fees, an administrative assessment, and attorney fees. 1JA 87-88 (Judgment of Conviction); 1JA 89-90 (Corrected Judgment of Conviction). Mr. Andrews timely noticed his appeal. 1JA 91-92 (Notice of Appeal).

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Nicholas Daughtery (Nick) became a confidential informant for the Street Enforcement Team (SET), a local law enforcement collaborative.³ 2JA 119, 127-28. Mr. Andrews was his target. 2JA 196. Nick had known Mr. Andrews for a couple years, lived a few doors down from him in the same apartment complex for a while, and used drugs

³ SET targets street-level narcotics, prostitution, and underage alcohol offenses. 2JA 167.

with him. 2JA 121-27, 140-41. On June 19, 2015, Nick—after being wired by SET officers, provided buy money by them,⁴ and transported to a location near Mr. Andrews's apartment on I Street in Sparks, 5 2JA 122, 127-31, 172-77; 3JA 248-50—met with Mr. Andrews in his apartment. 2JA 131-32. There, under the ruse that he was buying drugs for a coworker, Nick bought heroin and crystal meth from Mr. Andrews. 2JA 132, 146. The drugs were taken from a drawer in the kitchen. Mr. Andrews put each substance in a separate plastic sandwich bag. 2JA 133. Nick was in the apartment for about 25 minutes and then he left. 2JA 137. Outside he met with SET officers who took possession of the drugs he had purchased from Mr. Andrews, and debriefed him. 2JA 137-38; 3JA 254-55. Nick told them that there were more drugs in the apartment. 2JA 138, 149; 3JA 256.

⁴ Including an extra \$180.00 to settle a debt that Nick owed Mr. Andrews after he could not deliver a working Van that he had promised and for which Mr. Andrews had paid \$500.00. 2JA 129, 141-42; 3JA 327. At trial Mr. Andrews testified that on June 19th Nick came to the apartment and paid him back. 3JA 331. He acknowledged that they used drugs, but testified that he did not give Nick drugs in exchange for money. 3JA 336-37, 342.

⁵ Mr. Andrews's apartment was located within the 1,000-foot zone of Ardmore Park. 2JA 160-66. <u>See also</u> 1JA 73 (Transcript of Proceedings: Sentencing) (arguing against park enhancement because "many residences throughout the city are somewhere near a park. [But the buy] occurred inside an apartment, not at a park.").

Mr. Andrews walked out of his apartment with his dog about five minutes after Nick left. 2JA 178, 206. Reno Police Detective Scott Rasmussen, the lead detective, instructed other detectives to take him into custody. 2JA 171, 178; 3JA 314-16 (noting that the prerecorded buy money provided to Nick was found in Mr. Andrews's right front pocket). Based on the information provided by Nick, Detective Rasmussen applied for a search warrant to search Mr. Andrews's apartment for more drugs. 2JA 179. Pursuant to the warrant detectives found drugs in a drawer of the island portion of the kitchen. 2JA 181. A smaller baggie containing methamphetamine was found underneath a jewelry container in the bedroom. 2JA 182, 187. The drugs recovered from Nick and from the apartment were identified as heroin and methamphetamine. 3JA 240-41.6

///

///

⁶ <u>See</u> Exhibit 28 admitted on June 14, 2016. 1JA 65-67. This Exhibit pertained to 5 items seized by SET officers of varying weights each less than 14 grams. 1JA 66-67. Items 1 and 3 contained heroin; items 2, 4, and 5 contained methamphetamine. 1JA 68. If we add the weights of the same controlled substances together, and differentiate between them, we find the separate weight of heroin to be 9.445 grams, and methamphetamine to be 9.532 grams—both individually under the 14 grams threshold amount required by NRS 453.3385(1)(b).

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case of first impression. The question presented is whether the district court erred in allowing Mr. Andrews to be charged and tried for a level 2 trafficking offense based on an aggregation of two different types of controlled substances—heroin and methamphetamine—albeit both schedule I controlled substances. Combined the amount exceeds 14 grams; separated into a heroin amount and a methamphetamine amount both individual amounts are less than 14 grams. Other jurisdictions that have confronted this issue have found it proper to aggregate the same type of controlled substances found at different locations so long as they are in the same spatial and temporal time frame, but have also concluded "different controlled substances cannot be aggregated for the purpose of determining the amount of a controlled substance to support a trafficking charge." But that is what happened here. Here 9.445 grams of heroin was combined with 9.532 grams of methamphetamine to get above the 14 gram threshold charging level. And the district court erred when it denied Mr. Andrews's motion to strike on this basis.

Accordingly, this Court must reverse the conviction on Count I and remand.

VII. ARGUMENT

The district court erred in allowing Mr. Andrews to be charged with possession of 14 or more but less than 28 grams of a controlled substance based on an aggregation of two different types of controlled substances.

Standard of Review and Discussion

A district court's pretrial order denying a motion to strike counts is reviewed for abuse of discretion. "An arbitrary or capricious exercise of discretion is one 'founded on prejudice or preference rather than on reason,' *Black's Law Dictionary* 119 (9th ed. 2009) (defining 'arbitrary'), or 'contrary to the evidence or established rules of law,' *id.* at 239 (defining 'capricious')." *State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Armstrong)*, 127 Nev. 927, 931-32, 267 P.3d 777, 780 (2011).

NRS 453.3385(1) makes it a felony for a person to "knowingly or intentionally sell[], deliver[], or bring[] into this State ... any controlled substance which is listed in schedule I, except marijuana, or any mixture which contains any controlled substance[.]" A person who violates the statute is subject to different penalties depending on the amount or weight of the controlled substance. *Id.* In calculating

amounts, the term "mixture" used in the statute means the aggregate weight of an entire mixture rather than just the weight of the controlled substance that is contained in the mixture. Sheriff, Humboldt Cnty. v. Lang, 104 Nev. 539, 542-43, 763 P.2d 56, 58-59 (1988) (observing that controlled substances "are typically sold in a diluted state" and society may impose "more severe penalties for the possession of large amounts of a diluted controlled substance than for smaller amounts of a pure controlled substance."). Here the facts do not present a case of dilution, rather the facts involved two separate controlled substances, albeit both schedule I drugs, that the State combined to create an aggregate weight in order to support the trafficking charge. Under these facts the issue is whether the district court erred in allowing Mr. Andrews to be charged and tried for possession of 14 or more but less than 28 grams of a controlled substance based on an aggregation of two different types of controlled substances?

In this question of first impression, Mr. Andrews does not contend that it would be improper to combine the *same* type of drug found at different locations but within a related spatial and temporal time for the purpose of aggregating weights. The error is in combining *different*

types of drugs to reach an aggregate weight for a trafficking charge. For example, in *Townsend v. State*, 823 So.2d 717 (Ala. Crim. App. 2001), Townsend, while fleeing on foot from the police, discarded a bag containing 22.4 grams of cocaine. A same day search of his bedroom after his arrest produced 17.91 grams of cocaine, which the prosecution was allowed to aggregate to meet the 28-gram requirement for trafficking (each individual amount being less than 28-grams). 823 S.2d at 719. In response to Townsend's argument that he should have been convicted of only two possession counts, *Id.*, the criminal appellate court disagreed; stating:

[t]he cocaine found in Townsend's bedroom and the cocaine he dropped while fleeing were properly treated as a single unit of possession because the circumstances involved his possession of cocaine at the same time, i.e., the two quantities were within Townsend's dominion and control at the same time.

823 So.2d at 724 (italics added).

Approximately, ten years later the criminal appellate court was confronted with a related argument. In *Wells v. State*, 93 So.3d 155 (Ala. Crim. App. 2011), Jennifer Wells was convicted of two counts of possession (by her guilty plea) while reserving her right to challenge on

appeal a four-count indictment for possession of methamphetamine, morphine, diazepam, and dihydrocodeine (hydrocodone) all stemming from the same incident. She argued that she "could not be convicted of multiple offenses based on possession of several types of controlled substances at one point in time." 93 So.3d at 156. The criminal appellate court disagreed and noted that it and "[a] number of jurisdictions have ... concluded that the possession of different types of controlled substances should result in separate convictions and sentences." 93 So.3d at 162 (citing Cunningham v. State, 567 A.2d 126 (Md. 1989) (collecting cases)). The court added that this also meant "different controlled substances cannot be aggregated for the purpose of determining the amount of a controlled substance to support a trafficking charge." 93 So.3d at 164 (italics added) (citations omitted).

The court's conclusion applies here. A case on point—*People v.*Jones, 2011 WL 44495 (decided on January 6, 2011, (Mich. App.))

(unpublished)—is both instructive and persuasive. Jeffery Jones was convicted of possession of 50 or more but less than 450 grams of a controlled substance (methadone and oxycodone), and possession with intent to deliver marijuana. *Id.* at *1. As relevant here, a search of

Jones's home recovered two separate quantities of oxycodone weighing 15.59 grams and 15.89 grams respectively, for a total of 31.49 grams, and a quantity of methadone weighing 39.44 grams. "The total for all three quantities was 70.83 grams." Id. On appeal Jones argued that "the quantities of oxycodone and methadone were improperly aggregated." Id. The appellate court agreed noting that even though "[b]oth oxycodone and methadone are controlled substances that are included in schedule 2," the "controlled substances at issue were not the same controlled substance." Id. The court found error because the prosecutor should have filed "separate charges based on the distinction of the two substances," and because "[t]he jury necessarily concluded that [Jones] possessed at least 50 grams of the combined substances[.]" *Id.* at *2-*3.

And that is what happened here. A total of 9.445 grams of heroin was combined with a total of 9.532 grams of methamphetamine to get above the 14 gram threshold charging level of the statute. The district court below nonetheless allowed the combination to stand finding that the statute and (some unidentified body of) law "contemplate[d] that when a seller of illegal drugs sells heroin and methamphetamine, which

are both schedule I products, both sold [and located] together" the statute is violated. This Court should disagree. And for the reasons set out above, find that the district court erred in allowing Mr. Andrews to be charged and tried as charged.

VII. CONCLUSION

This Court must reverse the conviction on Count I, trafficking in a controlled substance and remand.