#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RYAN SCOTT ANDREWS,

No. 71214

Electronically Filed Mar 08 2017 03:30 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_/

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JEREMY T. BOSLER Public Defender

JOHN REESE PETTY Chief Deputy Public Defender P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520-0027

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS District Attorney

TERRENCE P. McCARTHY Chief Appellate Deputy P.O. Box 11130 Reno, Nevada 89520

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

## **

## I. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the district court abused its discretion in denying Appellant Ryan Scott Andrews' (hereinafter, "Andrews") Motion to Strike when the Motion to Strike did not comply with the Nevada Revised Statutes concerning procedure in criminal cases?

Whether two different schedule I controlled substances, which are found in one location and sold as part of one transaction, can be aggregated to support one charge of trafficking in controlled substances under NRS 453.3385?

///

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a judgement of conviction following a jury verdict finding Appellant Andrews guilty of one count of second-level trafficking in a controlled substance and one count of sales of a controlled substance at or near a public park. Originally, Andrews was charged with two counts of first-level trafficking. 1JA 1-2. Prior to trial Andrews moved to "strike" the two counts in the Amended Information, which alleged violations of NRS 453.3385. 1JA 5-8. The crux of Andrews' argument was that the counts in the Amended Information improperly aggregated two different schedule I controlled substances: methamphetamine and heroin. *Id*.

The district court denied Andrews' Motion to Strike. *Id.* at 50-53. The parties reached an agreement of sorts. They agreed that the State would move forward on only one count of second-level trafficking, consisting of the combination of heroin and methamphetamine, instead of the two counts. *Id.* at 62. The State filed a Second Amended Information alleging one count of trafficking, a violation of NRS 453.3385, and one count of unlawful sale of a controlled substance at or near a public park, a violation of NRS 453.321 and NRS 453.3345. *Id.* at 55-58. The trafficking

2

count in the Second Amended Information indicated that the controlled substances at issue were methamphetamine and heroin. *Id.* at 55-56. Andrews was convicted at trial of both counts alleged in the Second Amended Information. *Id.* at 68-69. In this appeal, Andrews only challenges his conviction for trafficking methamphetamine and heroin.

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant facts for this appeal are simple. Andrews sold a confidential informant two schedule I controlled substances: methamphetamine and heroin. 2JA 132, 146. In order to complete the sale, Andrews removed a bag of methamphetamine and a bag of heroin from the same kitchen drawer. *Id.* at 132-33, 149. Andrews then removed some of each substance, separately weighed the substances, and provided the requested amount of each substance to the confidential informant in different sandwich bags. Id. A subsequent search of Andrews' apartment revealed that Andrews possessed 9.532 grams of methamphetamine and 9.445 grams of heroin. 1JA 66-67. The methamphetamine was packaged in three separate plastic bags. 2JA 181, 183, 189. A plastic bag containing approximately one gram of methamphetamine was found in the bedroom of the apartment. 1JA 66-67; 2JA 181, 183, 189. The majority of the methamphetamine was contained in the kitchen drawer. *Id.* The heroin

was packaged in two plastic bags. 1JA 66-67. The heroin was recovered from the kitchen drawer. 2JA 181, 183, 189.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues in this appeal are subject to two different standards of review. The State agrees that the district court's decision to deny Andrews' Motion to Strike is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. The Court should affirm the district court's decision on that basis. However, if this Court reaches the merits of Andrews' argument, the Court should review this matter *de novo* because it involves a question of statutory interpretation.

### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion When it Denied Andrews' Motion to Strike.

Andrews filed a motion and sought relief that is not contemplated by the Nevada Revised Statutes. NRS 174.075 governs pleadings and motions filed before trial in a criminal action. NRS 174.075(2) instructs that "defenses and objections raised before trial... may be raised only by a motion to dismiss or to grant appropriate relief, as provided in this title." (emphasis added). Title 14 of the Nevada Revised Statutes does not contain a statute which provides for striking an entire count or charge from an Indictment or Information. Instead, it is evident that a motion to strike is

appropriate only where the defendant seeks to remove surplusage from an Indictment or Information. See NRS 173.085 ("The court on motion of the defendant may strike surplusage from the indictment or information.")

The purpose of a motion to strike is to remove language which is both unnecessary and prejudicial to the defendant. See Hulett v. Sheriff, Clark County, 91 Nev. 139, 141, 532 P.2d 607, 608 (1975) (explaining surplusage and indicating "if appellant deems such surplusage prejudicial, he may move (in the trial court) to have it stricken under NRS 173.085") (citation omitted).

Andrews did not move to strike surplusage. Rather, Andrews sought to "strike" two complete counts in the Information. *See* 1JA 5-8 (Defendant's Motion to Strike Counts I and II). The Motion was based on the anticipated evidence. There is no Nevada authority supporting Andrews' decision to request that the district court "strike" two entire counts based on the evidence that one anticipates will be presented at trial. Since Andrews' Motion did not comply with Nevada's statutes concerning procedure in criminal cases, the district court's decision to deny his Motion is not arbitrary or capricious. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Andrews' Motion to Strike, and the decision

should be affirmed. *See Crawford v. State*, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005) ("[a]n abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason") (citation omitted).

B. Andrews' Conviction Should Be Affirmed Because it Is Consistent with Legislative Intent to Allow the Aggregation of Two Schedule I Controlled Substances to Support One Charge.

In order to resolve the merits of the dispute between the parties, the Court must consider what the appropriate unit of prosecution is under NRS 453.3385. The Court's review in this context is *de novo*. *See Jackson v*. *State*, 128 Nev.Adv.Op. 55, 291 P.3d 1274, 1283 (2012) (noting that determining the appropriate unit of prosecution presents an issue of statutory interpretation and substantive law); *State v. Lucero*, 127 Nev. 92, 95, 249 P3d. 1226, 1228 (2011) (providing that questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed *de novo*).

Pursuant to NRS 453.3385(1), it is a felony for a person to "knowingly or intentionally sell[], manufacture[], deliver[]...[or be] in actual or constructive possession of... any controlled substance which is listed in schedule I, except marijuana, or any mixture which contains any controlled substance." NRS 453.3385(1) designates three levels of punishment for trafficking based on the weight of the substances at issue. NRS 453.3385(1)(a)-(c). Level I and level II trafficking are both Category B

felonies. *Id.* at (a)-(b). A level I trafficking offense carries a minimum sentence of one year to a maximum of six years in prison, where a level II trafficking offense carries a minimum sentence of two years to a maximum of fifteen years in prison. *Id.* A level II offense also provides for a higher fine. *Id.* 

Andrews was charged in Count I of the Second Amended Information with a violation of NRS 453.3385(1)(b), or level II trafficking. 1JA 55-56.

Andrews asserts that NRS 453.3385 requires the State to file separate charges based on each controlled substance at issue (i.e. one level I trafficking charge for methamphetamine and another level I trafficking charge for heroin). Thus, Andrews attempts to limit NRS 453.3385 by using each individual schedule I controlled substance as the unit of prosecution.

NRS 453.3385 does not expressly address the issue at hand. The statute criminalizes the sale, distribution, possession, etc. of "any controlled substance which is listed in schedule I" and, with respect to mixtures, again references "any such controlled substance." NRS 453.3385(1) (emphasis added.) As this Court recently recognized, the word "any" has multiple conflicting definitions, and "has typically been found ambiguous in connection with the allowable unit of prosecution, for it

contemplates the plural, rather than specifying the singular." *Castaneda v. State*, 132 Nev.Adv.Op. 44, 373 P.3d 108, 111 (2016) (citations omitted). Accordingly, NRS 453.3385 is silent as to the appropriate unit of prosecution and the Court should look to the legislative history and public policy to determine legislative intent. *See Lucero*, 127 Nev. at 95, 249 P.3d at 1228.

While the legislative history of NRS 453.3385 does not directly address the appropriate unit of prosecution, it does discuss the purpose of the statute. NRS 453.3385 was introduced as Senate Bill 7 in 1983 by Senator William Raggio. Senate Bill 7 was introduced to enhance the penalties for heavy trafficking of controlled substances and to limit probation opportunities to those persons who provided substantial assistance. Hearing on S.B. 7, Before Senate Committee on Human Resources & Facilities, 62Leg. (Nev., Feb. 7, 1983); Hearing on S.B. 7, Before Assembly Committee on Judiciary, 62Leg. (Nev., March 10, 1983). NRS 453.3385 has been amended four times since it was enacted in 1983, but the original references to "any controlled substance which is listed in schedule I" and "any such controlled substance" remain unchanged. The legislative history of NRS 453.3385 provides that it was enacted to combat trafficking operations as a whole in Nevada, not any one type of substance. The Legislature's continued use of the word "any" in the statute, as well as the purpose behind the statute, indicate that the unit of prosecution should be viewed more broadly than Andrews proposes.

In Sheriff, Humboldt County v. Lang, 104 Nev. 538, 542, 763 P.2d 56, 58-59 (1988), this Court addressed the overall purpose of NRS 453.3395, which is a similar statute that prohibits trafficking in schedule II controlled substances. In Lang, the Court confronted the question of whether the weight discussed in the statute was the actual controlled substance or the total weight of the diluted or cut substance. *Id.* In reaching its conclusion, the Court explained that the Legislature enacted NRS 453.3395 "to deter large-scale distribution of controlled substances, thus decreasing the number of persons potentially harmed by drug use." *Id.* The Court recognized that controlled substances are typically sold in diluted states and more severe penalties are justified for possession of large amounts of diluted controlled substances because the potential number of persons who will partake in the substance is increased. Id. Further, the Court reasoned that the possession of large amounts of a diluted controlled substance indicates an intent to engage in the large-scale distribution of controlled substances, which is the conduct the statute was designed to deter. Id. The Court refused to read NRS 453.3395 in a restrictive manner

and held that the weight referenced in the statute included the aggregate weight of the entire mixture (or diluted substance), not simply the weight of the controlled substance separated from the mixture. *Id*.

The same policy considerations at issue in *Lang* are present here. Interestingly, Andrews acknowledges that it is proper under NRS 453.3385 to aggregate the weight of the same schedule I controlled substance, even if separately packaged and found in different locations. See Opening Brief, p. 10. The State agrees that aggregating the same schedule I controlled substance is permissible. The question becomes whether there is a policy reason or logical basis to treat the sale and possession of two schedule I controlled substances differently than the sale and possession of one schedule I controlled substance? Under Andrews' theory, a drug trafficker who possesses 7 grams of cocaine, 7 grams of methamphetamine, and 7 grams of heroin, should be treated differently than another drug trafficker who possesses three separate packages, weighing 7 grams each, of cocaine. Andrews' position effectively rewards the drug trafficker who routinely possesses and sells multiple schedule I substances, but who is careful enough not to possess a quantity that subjects him to level II trafficking penalties. Andrews may argue that in the hypothetical scenario proposed, the drug trafficker with 7 grams of three separate schedule I substances

could face a higher penalty if the charges are run consecutively. However, it is also true that the charges could just as easily be run concurrently. Under this scenario there is a potential for great disparity in the punishments for the same fundamental crime. Defining the unit of prosecution by each individual schedule I controlled substance does not deter large-scale distribution; it actually encourages drug traffickers to diversify their products and sales. Such a result would conflict with the spirt of NRS 453.3385.

The facts in this case only further demonstrate that Andrews' interpretation of NRS 453.3385 could produce absurd and inconsistent results. Here, Andrews sold two different schedule I substances in the same transaction. 2JA 132, 146. Andrews sold heroin and methamphetamine to the confidential informant at the same time and at the same location. *Id.* In doing so, Andrews retrieved the substances out of the same kitchen drawer to sell smaller quantities of them to the confidential informant. *Id.* at 133. If the heroin and methamphetamine were combined in the same plastic bag, there would be no debate that the State could charge the aggregate weight of the substances. Here, the only difference is that the two schedule I controlled substances were stored in the same kitchen drawer and sold simultaneously, but they were retrieved

from different plastic baggies. As indicated above, Andrews agrees that the same substance, even if separately packaged, can be aggregated. Yet, Andrews then advances the position that multiple packages of two different schedule I controlled substances cannot be aggregated. The distinction advanced by Andrews makes little sense. The distinction is based on the notion that the appropriate unit of prosecution should be defined by baggies, but that term does not appear anywhere in the relevant statutes. It makes just as much sense to limit the unit of prosecution by drawers.

If Andrews was retried consistent with the argument he advances, and was convicted of two counts of level I trafficking, he could then argue on appeal that the convictions are redundant because they involved a single act of selling schedule I substances to one confidential informant. *See State v. Koseck*, 113 Nev. 477, 479, 936 P.2d 836, 838 (1997) (indicating that "[w]hen a defendant receives multiple convictions based on a single act, this court will reverse redundant convictions that do not comport with legislative intent") (internal quotations and citations omitted). If Andrews were successful with that argument, then he would only be subject to one sentence for one to six years in prison, even though he sold and possessed significant quantities of two schedule I controlled substances in the same spatial and temporal proximity. Moreover, there were multiple baggies of

each substance, which is indicative of an intent to engage in the distribution of both substances. Requiring the State to distinguish between the schedule I substances here does not advance the purpose of NRS 453.3385.

This case must be resolved by the dictates of public policy and logic. See e.g. State v. Quinn, 117 Nev. 709, 713, 30 P.3d 1117, 1120 (2001) (discussing statutory interpretation and indicating that it "should be in line with what reason and public policy would indicate the legislature intended, and should avoid absurd results") (citation omitted). The Court should not rely on the type of schedule I controlled substance to define the unit of prosecution allowed under NRS 453.3385. Like in Lang, the Court should read NRS 453.3385 in a manner which allows the imposition of more severe penalties for the possession of large amounts of schedule I controlled substances. See Lang, 104 Nev. at 542, 763 at 58-59.

## IV. CONCLUSION

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Andrews' Motion to Strike, because such a motion is not contemplated by Nevada law. Moreover, Andrews' conviction should be affirmed on the merits because the Legislature did not intend for NRS 453.3385 to be limited in the manner Andrews proposes. Therefore, the Court should

affirm Andrews' conviction on Count I, trafficking in a controlled substance.<sup>1</sup>